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CORRIGENDA AND ADDENDA

Page 5

For Lieutenant I. H. MacDonald read Lieutenant I. H. Macdonald.
Page 7

For 2nd Lieutenant J. M. Kerr read 2nd Lieutenant J. M. M. Kerr.
Page 45

For Captain J. H. F. McEwan read Captain J. H. F. McEwen.
For Mr Harold MacMillan read Mr Harold Macmillan.
Pages 47, 271
For Captain J. A. MacDonald read Captain J. A. Macdonald.
Pages 47, 49, 61, 67, 69 )
For Captain W. J. MacGregor read Captain W. J. Macgregor.
Page 48
For Lieutenant D. Maclver read Lieutenant D. Maciver.
For Pipe-Corporal I. Campbell read Pipe-Corporal A. Campbell.
Page 51
For W. B. Thompson read W. R. Thompson.
For C.S.M. W. A, McBride read C.S.M. W. A. MacBride.
Page 52
For Lieutenant E. McDonald, D.C.M., read Lieutenant E. Macdonald,
D.C.M.
Pagess . . .
For Captain I. C. Pitman read Captain L. C. Pitman.
Page 69
For Lt.-Colonel A. G. F. Monro (of Auchenbowie) read Lt.-Colonel
A. G. F. Monro (of Auchinbowie).
For Lieutenant A. I. Macnab read Licutenant A. L. Macnab.
For Alan Macleod read Alan MacLeod.
For R. G. Parry read R. A. Parry.
Pages 69, 159, 160 '
For Lieutenant J. R. MacKay-Smith read Lieutenant J. R. Mackay-
Smith.
Page 77
For Sergeant J. A. MacLean read Sergeant J. A. McLean.
81
For Lt.-Colonel A. H. Fausset-Farquhar read Lt.-Colonel A. H. F.
Fausset-Farquhar.
Page 82
For Lance-Corporal D. J. MacKay read Lance-Corporal D. J. Mackay.



xii CORRIGENDA AND ADDENDA

Page 92
For Lieutenant Arnot read Lieutenant Arnott.

Pages g3, 3{5,' 151, 162, 163

For Major A. R. MacLeod or Major A. R. Macleod read Major
A. R. McLeod.
Page 101

For C.S.M. J. A. Maclean, D.C.M., read C.S.M. J. A. McLean, D.C.M.
Page 106 (Map : Operation “ Totalize ')
For Fontenay-le-Marnon read Fontenay-le-Marmion.
For Aisy read Ussy.
Page 107
For General Simmonds read General Simonds.
Page 116
For Hecqueville read Heuqueville.
Page 132
For Corporal S. Leadbetter read Corporal R. Leadbetter.
Page 141
For Lieutenant E. Smith read Lieutenant H. N. Smith.
Add new sentence after “ . . . village.”” (line 34), *‘ Lieutenant H. N.
Smith subsequently died of his wounds.”’
Page 156
For Lieutenant J. M. MacKay read Lieutenant J. M. Mackay.
Pages 159, 161, 162
For Lieutenant I. MacDonald read Lieutenant I. Macdonald.
Pages 162, 163, 164
For Lieutenant J. C. MacKay read Lieutenant J. C. Mackay.
Page 163
Delete name of Lieutenant J. Gentleman (‘“ A’ Company) : Lieutenant
Gentleman, who was wounded during the Second Battle of Ste
Honorine, was not present at the First Battle.

Page 16
ag Aftgr ‘ Lieutenant F. L. J. Arnott (wounded) (Canloan) '’ add ‘ This
officer died of his wounds.”’
Page 176
For J. E. C. McNair read J. E. C Macnair.
Page 203

For Camp Brassechaet read Camp Brasschaet.
Pages 212, 213
For Major-General Sir James S. Drew, K.C.B., C.B., D.S.0., M.C., read
Major-General Sir James S. Drew, K.B.E., C.B., D.S.0., M.C.
Page 247
For Lt.-Colonel F. Sublet read Lt.-Colonel F. W. Sublet.
Page 271
For Captain A. D. Macleod read Captain A. D. MacLeod.
For Captain C. Maclennan read Captain C. MacLennan.
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THE REGIMENTAL DEPOT DURING THE WAR \

AT the outbreak of war, Major G. P. Miller, M.C., was in command,
and six days later, in accordance with the mobilisation scheme, the
Depot became No. 34 (Cameron Highlanders) I.T.C., Major Miller
assuming command with the rank of Lt.-Colonel. Major J. Ford,
D.C.M., remained as Quartermaster.

In the same month, however, Lt.-Colonel R. N. Stewart, O.B.E.,
M.C., joined from the Reserve and took over command. Colonel
Stewart remained at the Depot for just under a year, and on 6th
September 1940 Lt.-Colonel A. P. C. Hannay, M.C., took over
command of the I.T.C. In the interval of three weeks between
Lt.-Colonel Stewart’s departure and the arrival of Lt.-Colonel Hannay,
the I.T.C. had been commanded by Major A. F. MacGillivray.

Colonel Hannay held command until 1oth February 1941, when he
was succeeded by Lt.-Colonel R. P. Haig, who, however, was posted to
command the 7th Camerons some two and a half months later, when
Lt.-Colonel H. S. S. Pringle-Pattison, M.C., arrived to command the
IL.T.C.

On 15th August 1941 the amalgamation of the Seaforth and Cameron
LT.C.s took place at Fort George, and thereafter during the war the
barracks were occupied by various units—No. 5 A.T.S. Training Unit ;
No. 10 L.T.C. (consisting of Royal Scots, Royal Scots Fusiliers and
King’s Own Scottish Borderers, and 3oth (Young Soldiers) Training
Battalion). The last named was commanded during the latter part of
its stay at Cameron Barracks by Lt.-Colonel A. G. Fairrie, M.B.E.,
Cameron Highlanders.

For a time, from September 1943 to April 1944, the White Ensign
flew from the flag-pole on the lawn when a combined Naval and Mlhta.ry

VOL. VI.
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Headquarters, controlling operational troops then stationed in various
parts of the North of Scotland, occupied the barracks. Personnel of
the Royal Navy, Royal Marines and W.R.N.S., and Headquarters
3rd Division, then commanded by the late Major-General T. G. Rennie,
C.B.,, DS.O.,, M.B.E. (later, in 1944, Commander 51st Highland
Division), formed this combined Headquarters.

On roth July 1946, No. 8 Highland Holding Battalion, commanded
by Lt.-Colonel R. D. M. C. Miers, D.S.0., moved into Cameron Barracks,
where it remained until its disbandment on 21st November 1946.

During all the period since No. 34 I.T.C. moved out of Cameron
Barracks until the end of 1946, a Regimental Depot Party under the

command of Major A. F. MacGillivray had remained at the barracks
- guarding the interests of the Regiment. This proved no easy task:
at times the Regimental Depot Party was in danger of being exiled
from its home. Indeed, for the six months during which the Combined
Headquarters occupied barracks and all available office accommoda-
tion therein, it was forced to take refuge in the Pioneers and Armourers
Shops. The Regiment was lucky to have such a sturdy upholder of
its interests as Major MacGillivray at Cameron Barracks during this
period.

The Regimental Military Band consisted mainly of boys of the 1st
and 2nd Battalions and repatriated prisoners of war, under Bandmaster
D. A. Pope and later Bandmaster V. E. Webster, and was at the Depot
throughout the war. The Band carried out excellent work entertaining
the troops and civilians in North Highland District, and raising money
by playing at public concerts for regimental and local charitable and
welfare funds.

On 21st November 1946, after a lapse of over five years, Cameron
Barracks was reoccupied by a purely Cameron unit on the formation
of No. 79 Primary Training Centre and Depot The Queen’s Own Cameron
Highlanders. The Commanding Officer was Lt.-Colonel R. D. M. C.
Miers, D.S.O. '

On 27th October 1947 the Chief of the Imperial General Staff,
Field-Marshal The Viscount Montgomery of Alamein, K.G., G.C.B.,
D.S.0., accompanied by Lt.-General Sir A. F. Philip Christison, Bt.,
K.B.E., C.B,, D.S.0.,, M.C.,, G.0.C.-in-C. Scottish Command, visited
Cameron Barracks. After a tour of the barracks the C.I.G.S. lunched
in the Officers’ Mess.

No. 79 Primary Training Centre was disbanded on 21st April 1948,
when the Regimental Depot was re-formed on its own establishment
under the command of Major R. G. Borradaile, M.B.E., M.C.
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REGIMENTAL INFANTRY TRAINING CENTRE

No. 34 (Cameron Highlanders) I.T.C. marched out of Cameron Barracks,
Inverness, on 14th August 1941, to form a combined Seaforth and
Cameron 1.T.C. at Fort George.

Lt.-Colonel J. E. M‘Connell, O.B.E., Seaforth Highlanders, was the
first Commanding Officer and Major D. Macdonald, Cameron High-
}a;ders, the first Second-in-Command, of No. 11 (Seaforth and Cameron)

.T.C.

The I.T.C. contained the normal Recruit Companies to train recruits
and Depot Companies to retrain and post trained men who for various
reasons belonged to no battalion.

In July 1942, owing to accommodation difficulties at I.T.C.s, it
was decided to concentrate certain Depot Companies at No. 1 Infantry
Depot at Redford Barracks, Edinburgh, which was commanded through-
out its existence by Lt.-Colonel F. S. Waldegrave, O.B.E., M.C,,
Cameron Highlanders.

The Seaforth Depot Company spent a period there, and the Cameron
Depot Company was there the whole time until No. 1 Infantry Depot
ceased to exist in 1944.

On 14th September 1942 the I.T.C. was honoured by a visit from
His Majesty The King. His Majesty, wearing the service dress uniform
of The Queen’s Own Cameron Highlanders, inspected the I.T.C., which
was drawn up on the cricket ground. His Majesty was accompanied
by Lochiel, K.T., C.M.G., Lord Lieutenant of the County of Inverness,
and by Major-General R. N. Stewart, O.B.E., M.C., Commander, North
Highland District.

Lt.-Colonel A. P. C. Hannay, M.C.,, Cameron Highlanders, was
appointed to command in October 1943, on the retirement of Lt.-Colonel
M‘Connell.

On 2nd November 1943, owing to the need to practise for “ D "’-Day
in the area of Fort George, No. 11 I.T.C. was moved to Pinefield Camp,
Elgin, there to remain until the 16th March 1946, when the I.T.C. was
moved to Redford Barracks, Edinburgh, there to become, on 1st April
1946, the Highland I.T.C. The other Highland Regimental I.T.C.s
joined later to complete the establishment—one training company for
each Regiment, and this company bearing the name of the Regiment
and being staffed with officers and N.C.O.s of that Regiment.

During the next eighteen months, the title of the unit kept changing
at frequent intervals, becoming in turn the Highland Group Training
Centre, the Highland Brigade Group Training Centre, and the Highland
Brigade Training Centre.

In May 1946 Lt.-Colonel A. P. C. Hannay, M.C., on retirement
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from the Active List, gave up command. He was succeeded by
Lt.-Colonel J. G. MacKellar, D.S.0., O.B.E., Argyll and Sutherland
Highlanders. Lt.-Colonel Hannay was awarded the O.B.E. for dis-
tinguished services during his long period of command.

Late in 1947 the number of training companies was reduced from
six to three, and once again Seaforths and Camerons were combined
to form one of these companies.

Headquarters of the Highland Brigade Training Centre, now com-
manded by Lt.-Colonel The Hon. H. C. H. T. Cumming-Bruce, D.S.O.,
O.B.E., Seaforth Highlanders, moved to Fort George in April 1948,
the move of the training companies being spread over from January to
May 1948.

On 1st August 1948 the Training Centre was merged into the
establishment of the 1st Battalion Highland Light Infantry, which,
as the newly formed Highland Brigade Training Battalion, took over
the functions of the Training Centre.
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No. 11 (SEAFORTH AND CAMERON) HOLDING
BATTALION

No. 8 HIGHLAND HOLDING BATTALION

IN July 1942, accommodation difficulties at the Infantry Training
Centre made it necessary to move certain Depot Companies to No. 1
Infantry Depot, Redford Barracks, Edinburgh. The Cameron Depot
Company was with No. 1 Infantry Depot during the whole of this
Depot’s existence. The Seaforth Depot Company also joined the
Infantry Depot.

In 1944, due to the opening of the campaign in Europe, these
Depot Companies began to swell in size and it became necessary to
form Holding Battalions to conform to I.T.C.s. The Seaforth and
Cameron Depot Companies were then formed into No. 11 (Seaforth
and Cameron) Holding Battalion at Forres in November 1944. The
Commanding Officer was Lt.-Colonel R. D. M. C. Miers, D.S.O.

On 24th January 1945 the Holding Battalion moved to Strath-
peffer, where it remained until 19th November 1945, when it was
moved to Stobs.

The Battalion was greatly honoured at being selected to send the
Pipe Band to Edinburgh during the visit of Their Majesties the King
and Queen for three days from 25th September 1945.

The Cameron Company was selected on this occasion to find the
Guard, which was commanded by Captain R. W. Leah, with Lieutenants
I. H. MacDonald and A. C. Mackesy as subalterns. On the day of
Their Majesties’ departure, Lt.-Colonel R. D. M. C. Miers, D.S.0., was
congratulated by the King on the smart appearance and efficiency of
the Guard.

Early in 1946 the unit moved to Stewarton, where it amalgamated
with the Depot Companies of the other Highland Regiments to form a
Highland Holding Battalion in conformity with the Highland Infantry
Training Centre at Redford Barracks, Edinburgh.

No. 8 Highland Holding Battalion, still under command of Lt.-
Colonel Miers, moved to Cameron Barracks, Inverness, on 1oth July
1946, where it remained until, on formation of No. 79 Primary Trammg
Centre and Depot, The Queen’s Own Cameron Highlanders, it was
disbanded on 21st November 1946.
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4TH BATTALION

THE duplication of Territorial units, that resulted in the formation of
the splendidly revived 5th Battalion, really marked the beginning of
mobilisation for the 4th Battalion ; at any rate, ever since duplication
had been ordered, early in 1939, preparations had been continuous.
Rebuilding of the Rose Street Drill Hall necessitated the removal of
the Orderly Room to the Northern Meeting Rooms; the hall itself
was filled with building materials, and training had to contend with
many difficulties. But everyone responded in the most praiseworthy
spirit, and recruiting for the duplicate Battalion was completed before
Annual Camp at Barry. The provision of uniform for all these new
recruits was impossible ; all, however, were supplied with greatcoats
and boots. An even greater difficulty than the recruitment of privates
was the selection of officer candidates; yet it says much for the care
exercised that all proved deserving of their commissions.

Completion of annual training did not mean a slackening of work.
The close proximity of war was appreciated by everyone, and there
was no relaxation of effort. To divide the old 4th Battalion into two,
and make up each half to battalion strength by the addition of the
partially trained recruits, was now the next task. This was done, and
by the beginning of August the 4th Battalion was nearly back to the
standard required of it before the duplication. The actual declaration
of war took nobody by surprise. Calling-up notices were sent out on
3oth August, and the Inverness men assembled in the Artillery Drill
Hall in Margaret Street, made available when the Inverness Battery
moved to Invergordon. A stricter medical examination than that
carried out in peace-time resulted in a fair number being found unfit ;
but there was no dearth of volunteers to take the place of those rejected.
Under the new National Service Act, recruiting for the Territorial
Army closed all too soon—so that many first-rate men had to be turned
away.

While these activities were going on at Inverness, men were reporting
at all the Battalion drill halls on the mainland and on the islands of
Harris, Uist and Skye, and these reached Headquarters on the third or
fourth day of mobilisation. Headquarter Company, being recruited
from Inverness, presented no billeting problem, because all were accom-
modated in their own homes: “ A’ Company, comprising men from
Beauly, found billets in Dochgarroch Hall; “ B’ Company, from
Harris and Skye, went to Dochfour, as did ““ C ”’ Company from Uist ;
and “D” Company, from Foyers and Fort Augustus, were allotted
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the Dr Black Memorial Hall in Bank Street. The directors of the
Thistle Football Club very kindly gave, without any charge, the use of
their playing-field. .

There were many difficulties to contend with in these early days.
Specialist equipment was in short supply, and a single Bren carrier
was alone available to train thirty men under 2nd Lieutenant G. A. M.
Panton. An epidemic of German measles broke out in “ B’ and “C”
Companies, so that collective battalion training could not be carried
out. It was also very unfortunate that the Commanding Officer,
Lt.-Colonel The Hon. G. E. M. Baillie, M.C., T.D., Captain J. South,
2nd Lieutenant The Hon. A. C. V. Elphinstone, and 2nd Lieutenant
1. C. MacArthur were found medically unfit for service overseas, and
therefore had to sever their connection with the Battalion. Lt.-Colonel
Earl Cawdor, T.D., who had been Second-in-Command to Lt.-Colonel
A. Cattanach, T.D., in the 5th Battalion since the duplication, assumed
command. Everyone was extremely sorry to bid farewell to Lt.-Colonel
Baillie, for he had been most popular, and responsible for the success
achieved in the rapid expansion of the duplicated units. Among the
senior N.C.O.s disqualified on grounds of age from proceeding overseas
were Pipe-Major W. Young and Sergeant W. Mackenzie. Both had
rendered very good service and they were largely responsible for the
consistently high standard of the Pipers and Signallers they had respec-
tively trained. .

Early in October the Battalion (less “ B and ‘“ C” Companies
still in quarantine) left for Aldershot. Sir Murdoch Macdonald, M.P.
for the County of Inverness, addressed all ranks on parade in the
Farraline Park Square, and the salute was taken by Provost Hugh
Mackenzie and Colonel Sir D. W. Cameron of Lochiel, K.T., C.M.G.,
Hon. Colonel s5th Battalion and Lord Lieutenant of the County of
Inverness, as the Battalion passed the Town Hall on its way to the
station. At Aldershot the Battalion shared Tournai Barracks with
the 6th Seaforth Highlanders. The officers, however, were quartered
in Ramillies House. Accommodation for the men was ctramped, but
Major S. H. Hill and P.S.M. D. Orr arranged a system of * staggered ”’
meals, which overcame the difficulty of messing.

Under Captain D. B. Lang, the Adjutant, the Battalion carried out
much drill on the square, and in due course a great improvement was
apparent in the smartness of the men. Section, platoon, and company
training followed, and by now there was plenty of equipment. Musketry
owed much to the work of 2nd Lieutenant D. A. H. Wills, while the
training and efficiency of the transport drivers under 2nd Lieutenant
P. H. F. Walker and later (on 2nd Lieutenant Walker’s transfer to the
Royal Engineers) 2nd Lieutenant J. M. Kerr, was proved by the fact
that not a single truck was lost either in England or in France as the
result of any accident.

The Island companies had to be housed in what had been the
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married quarters of the barracks when they rejoined the Battalion.
There were sporadic cases of German measles still, and this necessitated
a continued quarantine—with, for example, separate Church services,
each Sunday, held by Captain The Rev. Gordon Fraser in the vehicle
shed that also did duty as a ‘““ theatre ” for the concerts the Padre
organised.

Three large-scale training exercises were carried out during the
Aldershot period. ‘

At the end of November the Battalion moved to Bordon in order
to make room for the Canadian Division. There it was accommodated
in “ spider huts,” and the Mess was shared with the 6th Argyll and
Sutherland Highlanders, with whom the very best relations were
established. A restricted training area resulted in attention being
concentrated on indoor work : but this was valuable so far as ‘‘ special-
ists ”’ were concerned. The weather conditions made the use of trans-
port limited and precarious. An increased tempo of training was
noticeable after New Year’s leave, for now the Battalion was preparing
to proceed overseas. Stores and equipment were finally completed to
scale, transport was overhauled, and surplus kit handed in. The
Battalion had still been fighting to retain the kilt, so the order requiring
that only sufficient kilts to provide for the Pipe Band were to be taken
to France was liberally interpreted to allow for ‘‘ replacements.”

The first party to leave for France was one of twenty men, detailed
to operate a transit camp at Havre, under Major T. M. Threlfall.
2nd Lieutenant R. C. Robertson-Macleod left next, for attachment to
the 1st Coldstream Guards (in order to learn duties in the field). On
15th January 1940 the advanced Billeting Party, consisting of Major
Hill, Sergeant J. Fraser, the Provost Sergeant, and Lance-Corporal 1.
Bethune, left for Havre.

On 18th January the whole 51st Highland Division was visited
by Their Majesties the King and Queen. Their Majesties were welcomed
by the massed bands playing the Royal Salute, after which the Queen
inspected her own regiment, the Black Watch, and the officers of the
4th Battalion were introduced to the King. Some of the officers were
recognised by His Majesty, and he spoke to almost all ; he then inspected
the Cameron Platoon of the Anti-Tank Company under 2nd Lieutenant
A. N. MacLeod and showed interest in the new 25-mm. guns with which
the platoon was equipped. On the way down the long avenue lined
with troops, His Majesty stopped to speak with R.S.M. A. E. Heggie,
C.S.M. J. H. Savage, M.M., and some of the other warrant officers.
The troops accorded His Majesty a most hearty cheer as he passed
them.

The day of departure was the 26th of January and the Battalion
paraded on Martinique Square for the last time. The transport, with
the code number “ 8005 "’ painted on every vehicle, had already gone
ahead. It may here be mentioned that the Brigade Major of the 152nd
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Infantry Brigade, to which the Battalion belonged, was Major R. P.
Haig, Cameron Highlanders. Major V. D. G. Campbell relieved him
on 8th March 1940, on Major Haig being posted to the 1st Battalion.

Reaching Havre after an uneventful crossing in The Lady of Man,
the Battalion had a long wait before entraining for its first billets over-
seas. ‘“A"” Company was left at Bolbec, the point of detrainment,
and the first French village the men had seen. Here the snow lay deep
on the streets. ‘“ B’ Company moved from Bolbec to Gruchet, while
the remainder of the Battalion did not reach their billets in the
Lanquetot and Bolleville areas till late at night.

In the hard weather it was difficult to occupy the men ; the roads
were so ice-bound that route-marches could not be carried out. The
* Café des Sports "’ became a social centre for the N.C.O.s, and Head-
quarter Company organised concerts in the men'’s billets, which proved
a great success (particularly the songs composed by Private M. D.
Matheson). Most of the transport moved to Airaines on 3rd February,
just as the thaw had turned the fields into morasses, and the carriers
were needed to extricate many of the vehicles.

The Battalion received orders to move to a new area on 4th February,
though the transport remained where it was till the frost disappeared.

Leaving Bolbec by train, the Battalion travelled all night and half
the next day before reaching Lillers. Here it detrained and marched
3 kilometres to Bourecq, where Battalion Headquarters, *“ H.Q.” and
“B"” Companies were billeted. The other three companies went on
to the next village, St Hilaire. At Bourecq the Battalion were met by
Major Hill and the Agent de Liasson, M. Lucien Duchesne, who was to
prove a popular and very helpful officer. In this new area, in spite
of snow and rough weather, advantage was taken of every moment to
train the men. Route-marches were carried out through Ham (where
the 6th Seaforth Highlanders were billeted) and Ecquedecques (where
the 4th Seaforth Highlanders were billeted); but it soon became
certain that Bourecq was only a staging area, and on gth February
another billeting party proceeded to Bailleul—where the 239th and
329th Battalions of the French Army were holding the line. Recon-
naissances were carried out, but almost three weeks went by before the
Battalion moved, and not to Bailleul after all. Meanwhile, at Bourecq
much was done to improve conditions in billets : bathing facilities were
improvised ; field ovens constructed (deservedly named ‘‘ Orr ovens,”
after P.S.M. Orr, who devised them), and recreation included a com-
bined Seaforth-Cameron football match against a French team.

On 29th February, after a fantastic road journey shared by French
vehicles of every description, the Battalion reached Billy-Berclau.
Here the men met with a frigid reception, apparently because the last
troops there had been “ tough,” in the worst sense of the word ;- yet
it is pleasant to be able to record that the Camerons behaved in such
a way as to win the confidence and friendship of the inhabitants.
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“H.Q.” Company was billeted in a cinema and a dance hall in Billy-
Berclau itself ; the rifle companies in the neighbouring villages of
Salome and Hantay. There were no training areas available, so a pro-
gramme of specialist courses and cadres was drawn up.

Another move was soon warned, and reconnaissances of company
positions at Roubaix were carried out. The city of Roubaix seemed
to be suffering from a ‘‘ depression,” and the battle preparations there
were equally disappointing. On the whole front to be occupied by the
Battalion there were only two blockhouses and a highly offensive
sewage ditch (supposedly for anti-tank defence). The actual move to
Roubaix was made on #th March.

On 8th March the Battalion was honoured by a visit from H.R.H.
The Duke of Gloucester, accompanied by Lord Robert Scott. Great
interest was shown in all the Battalion’s activities. Indeed, there was
much to be done, and much already being begun. Signal communica-
tions had been given priority (for hitherto none of the company areas
had been linked up) ; also the billets had to be made habitable. For-
tunately, the Battalion was really only taking the place of a unit that
had gone to the Saar for training, so its trials were short-lived. 350
men were taken daily to assist the Royal Engineers ; and, in addition,
the Camerons had to give up any men with experience in concrete
construction : so companies sometimes found themselves with only
15-20 men to carry out their own defensive and administrative tasks.
On 17th March the Battalion returned to Billy-Berclau.

For ten days at Billy-Berclau there was work to do that everyone
thoroughly approved. An anti-tank ditch of a new and excellent
design was to be included in the switch-line behind Lille. The men
were keenly disappointed when the work had to be left incomplete ;
nevertheless, they had done all they could in the time. In the Bailleul
sector, to which the Battalion was now going, the Camerons would be
taking over a part of the line that included one of the biggest block-
houses on the Belgian frontier—and a guard of honour was sent ahead
with a view to rehearsing a ceremonial ‘‘ take-over.”

A ““road exercise ” was arranged by Divisional H.Q., for all the
units, to coincide with the move ; but the extreme cold, followed by a
blinding snowstorm, robbed the scheme of its interest, and the men
were glad to reach Bailleul. From the Town Square the companies
were diverted to their areas: ““ A" Company went to Hille, “D " to
Dranoutre, “ C” to a farm on the edge of the town, and “B"” to a
reserve position in the town itself. Battalion Headquarters was in the
Rue de Collége ; “ H.Q.” Company in the Rue de Cassel. The French
unit the Camerons relieved was the 75th Regiment, which had, in turn,
relieved the 329th and 239th. As soon as the men had begun to settle
down, the Band and the Guard of Honour were taken by truck to a
point on the road near Fort Dranoutre, where the handing-over cere-
mony was to be carried out. Here the Guard waited for the arrival of
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the Divisional Commander, Major-General V. M. Fortune, C.B., D.S.0.,
and Brigadier H. W. V. Stewart, D.S.0., Commander 152nd (Seaforth
and Cameron) Infantry Brigade. When these officers had passed, the
band struck up and played the Guard into the open space in front of
the fort, where the French Guard and band received it. The keys of
the blockhouse were then handed over with due ceremonial. 2nd
Lieutenant R. C. Robertson-Macleod commanded the Guard, com-
prising three picked men from each company and two warrant officers
(C.S.M. R. Macdonald and P.S.M. N. Maclean).

At Bailleul the policy of putting one Regular battalion into each
Territorial Brigade was implemented, and the 2nd Seaforth Highlanders
took the place of the 6th Seaforth Highlanders.

On 28th March the Commanding Officer and Major W. A. Macleay
toured the Bailleul front in order to lay out a defensive line on which
work could be started : it was no easy task. Owing to the necessity of
respecting the neutrality of the Belgian border, the line could not be
entirely tactically chosen. The defensive scheme included four French
blockhouses : Dranoutre, built in 1937 ; two, at Point D’Appuis, in
the course of construction ; and Hille, on the switch-line of the anti-
tank ditch. The French units had dug few, if any, new defensive works
since September, so much had to start from * scratch.” There was
the added difficulty of fitting in the French fire-plan for the sector,
because the organisation and armament of French and British battalions
were so different. Corporal J. D. Greenwood, Lance-Corporals S.
Thomas (R.A.O0.C.) and A. Campbell were instrumental in adapting
the Mitrailleuse mountings for the Bren guns.

(Referring to the sketch-plan of the positions.) On the left front
the tank ditch ran from the French blockhouses, Kerseboom Nord and
Kerseboom Sud (at the foot of Mont Noir), to Dranoutre. The general
layout was designed as a continuous zig-zag ditch, with blockhouses at
the inner apex of each zig-zag; and, accordingly, the guns were
defiladed and the blockhouses protected from frontal fire by huge
mounds of earth. Dranoutre Fort was fitted with a heavily armoured
cupola with ball-jointed light-automatic emplacements. The garrison
was supplied with an independent water system and sufficient rations
to withstand a protracted siege. But the blockhouses still under con-
struction were as yet of no value, and pill-boxes intended to thicken
up the line of defence were no more than shelters against the weather
in their existing form. Fort Dranoutre became quite a *‘ show-piece " :
but work on less spectacular sites was handicapped by the lack of
stores—particularly revetting materials.

Recreation for the men was limited. A cinema was persuaded to
show British and American films, however, and this resulted in * full
houses ”’ whenever they were announced. On 47th April the Massed
Pipe Bands of the Division played in the Square, much to the delight
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of the townspeople of Bailleul. A fortnight later the Cameron Pipe
Band played at Cassel, headquarters of the French Corps on the left
of the Battalion front.

Before the Battalion left Bailleul for the Saar, on 23rd April, much
good work had been done both on the defences and towards the training
of patrols. The defences were improved by (amongst other things)
the improvised construction of a strong-point at ‘“ Burnt-out Farm,”
a position of tactical importance on the inter-Battalion boundary.
Major Hill organised the patrol exercises in the Forét de Nieppe ; and
it was from these that, later, the Battalion ‘‘ Gladiator Patrol,” led by
Lieutenant D. N. Cochrane, was chosen. Company training and cadres
had continued during the whole period, and a good system was devised
that enabled officers and N.C.O.s of one half of the Battalion to pass
on what they had learnt on the alternate day when the other half was
receiving its instruction.

The journey to the Saar was by train to Maiziéres-les-Metz, and
thence by march route (8 kilometres) to La Maxe, a village of one long,
straggling street. Wet weather made conditions very unpleasant, and
the billets left much to be desired. But soon permission was obtained
for relays of twenty-four men to go each evening to Metz, where there
were many amenities. A modern swimming pool on the banks of the
Moselle was one of the special attractions.

On 1st May the Commanding Officer reconnoitred the part of the
line the Camerons were to take over. The main Maginot Line con-
sisted of a single line of fortresses, spaced at intervals of a quarter to
three-quarters of a mile apart. Between these fortresses there were
blockhouses covering an anti-tank ditch. In front of each fortress was
a phalanx of half-buried steel rails and a considerable area of barbed-
wire obstacles. Depth was given to the whole defensive system by
three other lines besides the Maginot ; two in front of it and one behind.
There was the Ligne de Contact, or Outpost Line, about five miles in
front of the Maginot ; the Ligne de Recul—intended to be sufficiently
strong to give the fortresses ample time and about a mile and a half in
front of them ; finally, a mile or so behind the Maginot, there was the
Ligne d’Arrét, on which the defenders of the forward lines could fall
back. Gaps were allowed to enable the falling-back process to be
effected ; and these were covered by V-shaped works (* Brisants "),
to be held until all were back and the gaps could be closed. The fire-
plans were most complete, and beautifully drawn on innumerable
tracings ; but, alas, neither the Brisants nor the defences of the Ligne
d’Arrét were worthy of their theoretical effectiveness. The Brisants
consisted of a few shallow pits, and the Ligne d’Arrét of a series of
isolated light machine-gun posts ; and there was no continuous trench
system. On going over the section of the Ligne d’Arrét allotted to the
Battalion, it was estimated that 80,000 sandbags, 2000 ™ A "’ frames,
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2000 sheets of revetting material, 600 coils of barbed wire, and 1200
wiring pickets were the minimum requirements to put the line in a fit
state for defence.

On 2nd May the Battalion moved to Ising Barracks, about half a
mile behind the main Maginot Line. Half the transport accompanied
it ; the other half had to be hidden in the Bois du Compte d’'Hunol-
stein, as there was insufficient cover at Ising. The Black Watch were
still in the barracks when the Camerons arrived, but they moved out
early next morning. The barracks were new, yet the Black Watch
had been obliged to leave them still requiring much to be done to make
them habitable (in spite of their efforts). Tons of dirty straw had to
be burnt, and the rooms scrubbed with disinfectant.

It was decided by Brigade that the unit stationed at Ising would
supply the garrison for the Brisants, and those positions not yet pre-
pared were to be situated between Chemery-les-Deux and the gap in
front of Dalstein. ‘“ D ”” Company, under Major Threlfall, was detailed
for this duty, and the men were billeted at Le Petit Chemery. A few
days later “D " Company was joined by “C’ under Captain R.
Burton—so leaving the Battalion with only three companies to con-
tinue the work on the Ligne d’Arrét. The Battalion front was about
3000 yards long, which meant that a considerable time would be needed
to complete the essential tasks.

Meanwhile, until the Engineer stores were available, the three com-
panies at Ising carried out musketry and anti-gas training; also, for
the first time, the men had an opportunity to fire the Boyes (.55 anti-
tank) rifles.

On 7th May the Battalion left Ising, after dark, in the order “ A,”
“H.Q.,” and “ B Companies, and a skeleton “ A’ Echelon trans-
port. Captain J. A. Tweedie commanded ““ A,” Major Macleay *“ H.Q.,”
and Captain The Viscount Fincastle “B” Company. Marching
through Dalstein and the Maginot Gap, it was joined by “C” and
“D " Companies (from the Brisants), before continuing all night to
the cross-roads in the centre of the Forét de Bouzonville. Here, under
cover of the trees, the companies were fed and rested before leaving for
their various positions in the Ligne de Contact. The stores were now
unloaded, and ““ A"’ Company under 2nd Lieutenant D. F. Ross, one
platoon of “ C "’ Company under 2nd Lieutenant S. H. Johnston, one
platoon of “B " Company under 2nd Lieutenant F. Clark, and the
Mortar Platoon under P.S.M. F. Garden, left for Flastroff. This party
was commanded by Captain Tweedie, and it left before the rest of the
Battalion because its stores had to be carried 34 miles. Headquarters
was the last to leave—moving from the forest at 5 p.M. so as to com-
plete the relief of Dampont in time to allow the Seaforths to get out
in daylight. Dampont had, externally, the appearance of a prosperous
farmhouse with the usual outbuildings; but it had been converted
into a place of considerable strength. The relief of the 2nd Seaforths
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was carried out in other areas as follows: ‘“ D’ Company, Colmen ;
“ C " Company, the Tiergarten; and “ B "’ Company in the Spitzwald.

At 3.30 A.M. on 8th May, officers and men had just ““ stood-to ” at
Dampont when a message was received that ““ C *’ Company had been
attacked in strength and had some men missing. It transpired that a
determined raid had been carried out—supported by mortars—and four
men had been captured. The cutting of the telephone wire during the
night had enabled the raid to take place without the early knowledge
of the Company Headquarters. Four other men had lucky escapes ;
a Bren gun at their post was completely stripped of woodwork (appar-
ently as the result of some French grenades, left in the position, having
been detonated by the mortar-fire), and the gun-team were all badly
shell-shocked, though otherwise uninjured.

Enemy patrols were active on “A” and ‘“ B” Company fronts
during the night of 8th-gth May, but there were no casualties.

Work on the Tiergarten positions (the ineffectiveness of which had
already been proved) was begun at once, and the Pioneers, with all
available men from Headquarters, constructed a post of an improved
type that was intended ultimately to become the Company H.Q.
While the work was in progress, the Artillery Observation Officer (who
had an observation post in the Tiergarten) reported the movement of
armoured fighting vehicles north of Neukirchen Mill. The mill was
bracketed successfully, and the roads and woods ‘‘ pasted *’ with great
accuracy. Enemy shell-fire on “ B" Company’s positions during the
afternoon of the gth did no material damage, but the *“ overs "’ skimming
the trees on the Tiergarten hill hindered the working parties. “ A"
Company at Flastroff had a quiet day except for sniping which proved
troublesome—particularly as ration parties supplied by the Company
had to cover a considerable distance to supply the isolated posts.

On 10th May Lieutenant J. A. Crawford completed an overhaul of
the telephone lines. The system was necessarily complicated, since
(for example) “ A’ Company had an exchange with lines to four
different posts. That day hundreds of enemy aircraft passed over on
long-distance bombing raids; and the Battalion learnt that Germany
had invaded Belgium, Holland, and Luxembourg. .

Hitherto it had been the practice to regard daytime as a period of
* peace,” but now conditions had clearly altered. It was evident that
the enemy intended to force the Ligne de Contact. On the British side
a start was made to use the Brigade Fighting Patrol commanded by
Major Murray Grant of the 2nd Seaforth Highlanders. This was com-
posed of three sections : one from the 2nd Seaforths, under 2nd Lieu-
tenant C. Blair; one from the 4th Seaforths, under 2nd Lieutenant
H. Mackenzie ; and one from the 4th Camerons, under 2nd Lieutenant
D. N. Cochrane. These sections were stationed at Beckerholtz, and
they took it in turn to carry out the patrols required by the Battalion
holding the line. But the Germans had been in occupation of their
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positions since the previous September: they had developed a tech-
nique of raiding, using specially designed clothing, skilfully trained
dogs, and the services of local smugglers and foresters who had gone
over to their side at the outbreak of hostilities. On the day on which
Luxembourg was invaded, the patrol was supplied by the 4th Seaforths.
Just after leaving Post 74, the patrol was met by bursts of automatic
- fire, and the leader decided to return to the (Cameron) post. Unfor-
tunately, having mistaken the returning patrol for the enemy, fire was
opened and the officer in command was wounded. That same day the
Intelligence Section observed no less than seven separate enemy groups
on “ A" Company’s front, and heavy machine-gun fire was opened on
Post 68, which was commanded by 2nd Lieutenant F. Gilmour. 2nd
Lieutenant Gilmour later located the enemy and reported to Company
H.Q. However, acting on his own initiative, 2nd Lieutenant A. R. P. P.
Cameron filled his battle-dress blouse with grenades and made his way
towards Post 68. He came under fire whenever he reached the open,
but he threw his grenades and succeeded in getting back to Post 7o0.
The enemy activity then ceased, though some shrapnel-fire was clearly
intended for the ration party sent out not long after—showing that
every movement was liable to be noticed. In fact, there was little
doubt that the Germans had taken advantage of the distances between
posts, and the amount of dead ground, to prepare ‘ hides” in the
Bouzonville Wood, and from there (supplied with rations for a tour of
3-4 days’ duty before being relieved) to work their way right through
behind Battalion Headquarters, and even to St Oswald’s Chiteau and
Beckerholtz, where some of the 25-pounders were! They signalled
with extraordinarily realistic * cuckoo’ whistles; moreover, they
used platforms in the trees, from which apparently they tapped into
the overhead telephone wires. The boldness of these men was demon-
strated when Major Hill found the impression of a German mortar-
base a few feet from 2nd Lieutenant Gilmour’s post. (Incidentally,
the Germans made much use of the mortar as a weapon of offence ;
whereas 2-inch high-explosive bombs were not available to the British
platoons.)

The Germans, however, did not continue to have it all their own
way. Signalling communications were improved by running a new
arterial wire in the open and away from all trees; and deficiency in
infantry weapons was compensated by good liaison with the supporting
artillery, under Major Hoare, R.A. On one occasion, during the second
week of May, a report by Captain The Viscount Fincastle that a party
of Germans dressed in green capes were erecting camouflage netting
in the woods, on “ B” Company front, resulted in a successful shoot
that owed no little to the close co-operation of the company observers,
who “ corrected”’ the ranging salvos. ‘“B” and “ C’” Companies
both enjoyed a quiet night after this strafe.

The 13th of May was an unlucky one for “ B ” Company. Shelling
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and mortaring lasted most of the morning, and one shell struck Com-
pany Headquarters, killing Lance-Corporal N. Macdonald, Private
N. Macleod, and Private D. M. Grant. “ A’ Company, on the other
hand, although occupying a reputedly dangerous sector, escaped the
shelling that their neighbours suffered ; an infantry raid on Flastroff
had been beaten off, and they had accounted for one of the Germans
and secured identification. “ D’ Company had continued to be for-
tunate at Colmen, and Major Threlfall had been able to assist “ C”
Company in the Tiergarten area.

The normal relief was carried out on the 14th of May by the 4th
Seaforth Highlanders. An attempt by the relieving unit to clear the
Bouzonville Wood, before taking over, was not a success: the woods
were too thick, and there had been no opportunity of thorough recon-
naissance. The relief was necessarily delayed, so the Camerons were
very tired and hungry by the time (4 A.M.) they reached Ising.

Until the 51st Division took over a sector of the Saar front at the
beginning of May 1940, only one British Brigade had been in the line

there. The relief programme for the initial tours of duty was as
follows :—

Ligne de Contact . . 2nd Seaforth. 4th Camerons.
Ligne de Recul . . 4th Seaforth. 2nd Seaforth.
Ligne d’Arrét . . 4th Camerons. 4th Seaforth.

But circumstances made it impossible to adhere to this.

On the night of gth-roth May the French 2nd Colonial Division,
which was on the left of the British sector, lost an important position
near the River Moselle and was obliged to pull back the Ligne de
Contact until it practically merged with the Maginot Line proper. The
high ground the Germans had gained gave them excellent visibility
and seriously weakened the potential power of resistance on the British
front. Orders were accordingly issued that the 51st Division would be
withdrawn from the Ligne de Contact by midnight on the 15th-16th
May.

The Camerons had looked forward to their first day of rest after
their exhausting days in the line, and Reveille on the 15th was ordered
at 9.30 A.M. Then, shortly after midday, instructions were received to
man the Ligne d’Arrét—because the 4th Seaforths were being with-
drawn and the Ligne de Contact evacuated! Everything that had
just been unpacked had to be packed up again to be taken to the new
positions. There was more to come, too. Orders succeeded orders,
and in addition to manning the Ligne d’Arrét the Camerons were
required to occupy the Brisant defences in and behind Chemery-les-
Deux. A new plan for the Brisant defence had been worked out by
the Brigade Commander and Lt.-Colonel Barclay of the znd Seaforths ;
the work was to be begun immediately.

The two companies that had had the quietest time in the Ligne de
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Contact, “A"” Company (Captain Tweedie) and “D” Company
(Major Threlfall) were detailed for the Brisant duty, and left during
the night. Major Hill co-ordinated the work of these two companies.
In fact, this was a very responsible task, and nobody could feel sanguine
as to the fate of the Brisant garrison if it became necessary for it to
cover the retirement of all the troops in advance of the Maginot Line
before withdrawing itself through the Dalstein Gap.

The move of the remainder of the Battalion had scarcely been
carried out when the Commanding Officer was told to take up a position
farther to the right. “ B’ Company now had to take up positions on
the right of the Ebersviller-Aboncourt road ; and, with the exception
of a post called Croix Rouge, this new line existed only ‘“ on paper.”
“C " Company’s positions were centred round Ebersviller.

While work on the company posts and battle headquarters con-
tinued, news was received on 18th May that 2nd Lieutenant D. N.
Cochrane had been killed at Beckerholtz, and that Lance-Corporal
G. Laing and Private J. Grant of his patrol section had also been
killed at the same time. The patrol had been operating under instruc-
tions of the 2nd Seaforths, who were holding the Ligne de Recul, and
a daylight raid was being carried out to ascertain in what strength the
enemy held Beckerholtz and St Oswald’s Chateau. They had just
passed through Beckerholtz when they were met by the fire of a con-
cealed machine-gun. The deaths of 2nd Lieutenant Cochrane and his
men was a very sad loss to the Battalion.

On 21st May the Battalion received orders to move into Corps
Reserve. It was particularly unfortunate that Lieutenant and Quarter-
master J. R. Cooper had not returned with the leave party from Ising.
Lieutenant Cooper was retained at home on account of ill-health, and
his services at the time of yet another move were much missed ; but,
deputising as Quartermaster, 2nd Lieutenant R. D. Dundas carried
out unfamiliar duties very well. The Battalion moved off at 10 p.M.
and travelling via Abmmcourt, Maizi¢res and Corflans, reached Brain-
ville about 3 a.M. Owing to the great number of enemy aircraft over
the Metz area, the journey had to be done without lights.

After three days devoted, with advantage, to ‘‘ cleaning up,” a
sudden order was received that the Battalion was to be ready to move
at short notice ; and half an hour later this was followed by an order
to be on the move in twenty minutes. A train was held at Jarny
(about 8 kilometres away), and with a minimum of equipment the men
marched off in the blazing heat of the aftermnoon. First of all, the
destination was given out to be Le Mans—surprising enough, since the
journey originally warned had been ‘‘ about 40 kilometres” ; but
thirty-six hours later at Le Mans the Railway Transport Officer issued
another ticket, this time for Rouen, with a vague indication that Brest
was to be the final destination.

It is easier now to excuse the uncertainties and complications of
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that very trying journey. At Rouen no arrangements had been made
to receive any of the 51st Division, and it was only after a prolonged
search that some tents were found to serve the Camerons for what
remained of the night. Equally haphazard were the orders next day ;
but at any rate it appeared likely that a further move by French troop-
carrying vehicles might be expected. The Battalion prepared to move,
and at 8 A.M. on the following day a collection of old Paris omnibuses
arrived. Three hours later the convoy leader turned up, and off the
strange-looking column went. Yet the vehicles seemed to be mechani-
cally sound, and even a tremendously steep hill on the far side of the
Rouen bridge was taken in style.

At a point on the road where it dipped towards Blangy, the buses
turned off to the left and so into the huge Haute Forét d’Eu. Here
the Battalion was set down ; and here were the battalion guides, under
Sergeant J. F. Michie, who were able to give the scant yet significant
information that two days ago German motorised troops had been seen
at the north edge of the wood. The guides then led the companies to
their areas, “ A" and “ B " on the right, “ C " and “ D ” on the left,
with H.Q. in the centre; all about a mile inside the forest. At the
point selected as Battalion Headquarters there was the first agreeable
surprise anyone had experienced for some time. The Battalion trans-
port was there, carefully camouflaged, and all present and correct !
In spite of a nightmare journey across France, Major Hill had suc-
ceeded in leading it there without mishap.

Although the Battalion was only destined to remain a day in the
Haute Forét d’Eu, it made the most of it. Trees were cut down to
clear a field of fire; road-blocks were constructed and defensive posi-
tions were prepared without any delay. An ammunition dump, dis-
covered by Major Jefferies (R.E.), provided the companies with anti-
tank mines as well as a reserve of grenades and small-arms ammunition.
Indeed, there was good cause to regard these measures to be important,
and to give immediate attention to the defence; for the Germans had
already reached the River Bresle. However, the Camerons had become
accustomed to what seemed a continuous process of packing up and
unpacking ; at any rate, they were required to move again. During
the afternoon of 2gth May a unit of the Armoured Division announced
that they were taking over, and they waited impatiently till the even-
ing—when it was less likely that the roads would be under air observa-
tion. Companies then marched off at wide intervals. After leaving
the forest, the Battalion passed through several half-deserted villages,
crossed the Bresle at Blangy, and continued along the Route Nationale,
through Le Translay and Biencourt, to Doudelainville.

Doudelainville was reached at 4 a.M., and there the Battalion found
billets. Next morning a proclamation warned the civilians to evacuate
their homes, and there followed the pathetic sight of old men and
women removing their belongings (such as they could take away) in
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wheelbarrows and perambulators. The move was resumed in the
afternoon to Limeux, 34 kilometres on ; but a covered route had first
to be reconnoitred because the main road was being shelled.

“A” and “D"” Companies occupied woods in front of Limeux,
“H.Q.” Company was in the village, and “ B” and “ C " Companies
behind it. Limeux stood in a hollow, with woodland to the north and
south ; so the enemy were denied direct observation, although (having
occupied it) they must have known every feature of the place. At any
rate, the village was built round the intersection of the Oisement-
Moyenneville, Doudelainville-Hallencourt roads, and was therefore a
natural target for artillery fire; and counter-battery fire was also
* directed against the French artillery concentrated in the immediate
vicinity. Rarely was the sky clear of German aircraft, circling over-
head, and dive-bombing began at noon and lasted till 7.30 P.M. on the
first day. Shelter pits had been dug at once, so casualties from aircraft
were few ; but a French convoy was severely bombed. It was on this
occasion that two of the pioneers, Private F. Mackie and another
whose name is not recorded, did brave work in rescuing the French
wounded drivers while shells were exploding in the burning trucks.

During the evening of 31st May the C.O. returned from a recon-
naissance, at Huchenneville, with the news that the Battalion was going
to take over from a French regiment (equivalent of a British Brigade).
The move was carried out twenty-four hours later. Battalion Head-
quarters occupied the Chiteau de Huchenneville and the outbuildings ;
“ A’ Company took up positions, on the right, on high ground immedi-
ately behind Tourbieres; “ B’ Company were in the wood just in
front of Huchenneville village. “C” and “ D" Companies were at
Villers, about 1} miles from Battalion H.Q., holding a position of
importance, because Villers straddled the Route Nationale ; and here,
too, was the Brigade Anti-Tank Platoon (attached to the Battalion),
under 2nd Lieutenant MacLeod.

It would give a false impression of the conditions then obtaining,
however, if the occupation of these positions was mentioned merely as
a fast accompli, without noting some of the many difficulties with which
companies had to contend. In the first place, “ D’ Company had a
number of casualties while they were forming up at the north end of
Doudelainville, and they were obliged to make their way to Huchenne-
ville independently of the rest of the Battalion. Secondly, all com-
panies had to adjust their limited resources in men and weapons to the
very extensive French layout—which allowed for forty-four light auto-
matic machine-guns instead of the nine that the British companies had.
Thirdly, “C” and “ D’ Companies were machine-gunned and sniped
while getting into position, and neither found any properly prepared
defences to take over.

By daybreak on 2nd June the companies began work of pressing
urgency. “ H.Q.” Company had their hands full making Huchenne-
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ville ChAteau into a battle headquarters and eonnecting companies by
a proper signal system. Shelling of the chiteau grounds hampered
operations. According to the French, this shelling came from a quarry
at ““ Casar’s Camp,” a feature of the Mont de Caubert (a long hill to
the left of the Route Nationale), where the Germans found cover for a
large number of guns. Other companies were equally well employed in
improving their positions; the only noteworthy incident being on
‘A" Company’s front. A reconnaissance car of the gth Lancers had
been shot up, set on fire and abandoned, when it was realised that
there were important papers in it which the Germans were striving to
reach. 2nd Lieutenant A. R. P. P. Cameron rushed towards the blazing
car and made a gallant attempt to forestall the enemy ; but he was
wounded and taken prisoner.

* By the afternoon of 3rd June very considerable progress had been
made in the improvement of all company areas: then, at a Company
Commanders’ Conference, the C.O. broke the news that the Battalion’s
role was not to be confined to defence ; the 152nd Brigade was to take
part in a general advance intended to drive the Germans across the
Somme and to re-take the Abbeville bridgehead. Lt.-Colonel Earl
Cawdor then outlined the plan, as it affected the Camerons: “A”
Company, on account of its advanced position, was to remain where it
was. It would, however, support the advance of “ B’ Company
(across open ground) towards their objective, * Hedgehog Wood.”
“D"” Company would follow “ B,” fifteen minutes later, to capture
the cross-roads at Mareuil. ‘““C” Company was to thin out their
present defences in order to take over the positions vacated by “ D ”
when they advanced. Battalion H.Q. would remain at Huchenneville
ChAteau until the new line on the bank of the Somme had been secured.
Strong air support had been promised.

Shortly after this important conference had been held, a message
was received from “ D ”’ Company, at Villers, to the effect that one of
their platoons had sustained heavy casualties. Major Threlfall immedi-
ately bicycled off to see for himself what the situation was. It trans-
pired that the right-hand platoon of the company, which was com-
manded by 2nd Lieutenant N. C. Gunn, had been subjected to such
intense mortar-fire that they had moved out of their incomplete
defences—only, unfortunately, to be shelled in the open with even
greater loss, as the result of the enemy’s prior registration. Casualties
in this platoon made it necessary to detail No. Platoon of “C”
Company, under 2nd Lieutenant S. H. Johnston, to replace it for the
impending Battalion attack; and eighteen reinforcements that had
just arrived were also allotted to ““ D ”’ Company.

Meanwhile, the detailed preparations for the attack continued.
Major Threlfall had no easy task in taking the reinforcements up to
Villers ; and he had, in addition, to bring forward two carriers placed
under his command. The cemetery cross-roads near Villers was always
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a dangerous spot, being under direct observation from Mont de Caubert,
and the party found the road blocked by a truck (belonging to the
Northumberland Fusiliers) which had been struck by a shell. While
negotiating this obstacle the “D” Company men were themselves
shelled, sustaining casualties, including Private C. Hay, who lost his
life when he left the carrier he was in because he was under the impres-
sion that Major Threlfall had been wounded by a shell which had burst
close beside him.

All day long on 3rd June there was a tremendous amount of enemy
aerial activity, and it is probable that the mortaring of the machine-
‘gun posts of the Northumberland Fusiliers was attributable to air
observation. These two posts were situated in “ A"’ Company’s area,
and when one of the guns had been put out of action, 2nd Lieutenant
H. K. Junor volunteered to share the dangers of the position and took
his place beside the gunners. Enemy patrols succeeded in getting into
the orchard during the night.

Zero hour on the night of 3rd-4th June was at 3.30 A.M. But by
midnight every man was in his place.

It will be remembered that “ B’ Company was to lead the attack,
and now they went forward towards Hedgehog Wood. ‘‘ A ”’ Company
was covering their advance, and they moved with 2nd Lieutenant
F. Clark’s platoon forward on the right, 2nd Lieutenant W. R. Robert-
son’s platoon forward on the left, and Captain The Viscount Fincastle
following with Company Headquarters and the third platoon under
2nd Lieutenant A. J. Spiers. The barrage came down as soon as the
company came into view of the Hedgehog; but, alas, it fell short,
and the leading platoons were pinned under a withering fire from the
edge of the wood. When the barrage lifted it still fell short; the
Germans reinforced the front edge, and in spite of gallant efforts (which
at least drove back one of the German machine-gun posts), “ B’ Com-
pany could make no further progress. 2nd Lieutenant Robertson’s
platoon had got within 20 yards of the wood.

Just at this time Captain The Viscount Fincastle was shot in both
legs and the remaining Bren gunners in 2nd Lieutenant Robertson’s
platoon were killed. Already the intensity of the fire had deflected the
axis of the attack towards ‘“ A"’ Company, and Captain The Viscount
Fincastle ordered all that remained of his men to rally in that area ;
he himself had done all he could, and he remained in command of his
company until he could do no more : he was killed by a shell shortly
after receiving medical attention. “ B Company had lost over
seventy men.

The original plan, under which “ D"’ Company would follow “ B,”
had been designed to protect “ D’ Company from flanking fire. But
the plan could not be altered, for it had depended on a timed advance—
the fifteen minutes allowed before Hedgehog Wood might be deemed
to have been neutralised. In fact, “ D"’ Company was not able to
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know when it crossed the start-line that any advance from Villers
would expose its right flank to fire from the wood. ‘D " Company
was unfortunate from the outset. While actually forming up, the
leading Platoon Commander, P.S.M. W. Noble, was killed by shell-
fire, and a last-moment reorganisation had to be carried out—Captain
R. Burton, now Second-in-Command of “ D" Company, took over
P.S.M. Noble’s platoon, 2nd Lieutenant I. Macdonald took over Captain
Burton’s platoon, which was to follow on the left, and Major Threlfall
followed with Company Headquarters and 2nd Lieutenant Johnston’s
platoon (from “ C” Company). The line of advance was along the
right-hand side of the Route Nationale.

Three attempts were made by Major Threlfall to get forward, only
to be checked by withering machine-gun fire that could not be avoided
by any line of approach. The platoon led by Captain Burton made
some progress ; then further advance became impossible. The rest of
the company had been held up only a short distance from the start-
line, and casualties were heavy.

A report now reached Company Headquarters that Major Threlfall
had been seen to fall, to get up and to fall again, close to the Route
Nationale. His death in action was confirmed later. 2nd Lieutenant
Johnston had been severely wounded and was lying out in the open,
from where he could not be brought in during daylight ; and Captain
Burton was missing. In fact, 2nd Lieutenant Johnston managed to
crawl back after dark, in spite of his severe wounds, and Captain
Burton returned safely.

The remnant of “ D ”’ Company, together with a number of Seaforth
men, totalled about fifty in all. C.S.M. Simmonds placed this party at
the disposal of 2nd Lieutenant D. F. Ross (“ C” Company), whose
platoon was occupying a position on the right of the Route Nationale
previously held by “ D’ Company. The “ D "’ Company and Seaforth
men were formed into two groups, one under C.S.M. Simmonds and
the other under Sergeant A. M. M‘Leod, and again attempted to get
forward. They advanced through the orchard and covered about
200 yards, but intense machine-gun fire from the woods 400-500 yards
on their right made further progress impossible and they were with-
drawn under the scant cover of a ditch. '

“ C” Company, under Captain W. D. Ross, had assumed responsi-
bility for the defensive positions vacated by “ D ”’ Company when the
attack went forward, in addition to their own : but it will be recalled
that one of their platoons had been taken away. The whole of the
Villers position was therefore now only held by two platoons. Captain
Ross was faced with a worrying time, for the telephone line to Battalion
Headquarters was broken by the shelling of the Villers-Huchenneville
road.

Company Headquarters, consisting of what was known as “ The
White House ”’ and other smaller buildings, was soon the centre of
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heavy artillery bombardment, and the south end of the village was
subjected to an air attack: nevertheless, z2nd Lieutenant Ross and
2nd Lieutenant A. N. MacLeod (commanding the Brigade anti-tank
guns) were active in keeping touch with the situation and both con-
tacted companies of the 4th Seaforth Highlanders. 2nd Lieutenant
Ross also organised parties to collect the many Seaforth wounded.

About midday Major Hill visited Villers and discussed the plan of
defence with Captain Ross. Major Hill reported the situation to the
C.O. on his return to Battalion Headquarters at 2 p.M., and it was
then decided to send forward a platoon of the Norfolks (Pioneer
Battalion) under 2nd Lieutenant F. Slater to strengthen the position.
The remainder of the day was spent in reorganisation and in evacuating
casualties.

The night of the 4th-5th June was comparatively quiet, but there
were ominous sounds of motor-transport movement in the Somme
Valley that might well be the prelude to a German attack. About
5 A.M. it was reported that considerable numbers of the enemy were
advancing towards the chiteau from the woods in front. These were
engaged with effect and forced to take cover. Soon after first light
enemy fire from the woods became heavy and continuous, and once
more aircraft were circling overhead. By 7 A.M. the enemy had suc-
ceeded in infiltrating through “ C "’ Company’s dangerously extended
line. 2nd Lieutenant Slater had taken over the right of the Villers
position and, in addition to the platoon of the Norfolks, he had a dozen
survivors of “ D’ Company and also the machine-gun section origin-
ally allotted to cover the attack. In order to deal with the enemy
pressure, which was now coming from the rear as well as from the
front, 2nd Lieutenant Slater and Lance-Corporal C. Walsh (the only
N.C.O. surviving in his platoon) crawled out to an isolated shell-hole
from which Lance-Corporal Walsh accounted for a number of the
enemy before he was killed.

The position was at last overrun by superior numbers, who had
advanced from three directions. The gallant survivors, fighting at
close quarters, were made prisoners.

In the meantime, 2nd Lieutenant Ross had discovered that the
Seaforths on the left had vacated the positions they had been holding,
and he proceeded to Company Headquarters to give this important
information. 2nd Lieutenant Ross was instructed to remain at Com-
pany Headquarters, as orders for the retirement of his platoon were
expected at any moment ; but, while he was there, a message came
back from the forward platoon position to the effect that the enemy
was attacking, and he hurried forward to join his men. It was very
soon apparent to 2nd Lieutenant Ross that the enemy had penetrated
to such an extent that the platoon’s present position was untenable,
and he withdrew his men to the White House.

But, in the meantime, while 2nd Lieutenant Ross was with his
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platoon, the Company Commander (Captain Ross) proceeded to
Battalion Headquarters and explained that the forward platoons
could not hold their positions. Accordingly, it was decided that the
most effective method of stopping the enemy’s advance along the
Route Nationale would be a concentration of artillery fire on Villers,
and this was arranged.

In the White House area, in addition to Company Headquarters,
there was No. 15 Platoon, under P.S.M. N. Maclean, and while P.S.M.
Maclean issued ammunition and grenades, 2nd Lieutenant Ross dis-
posed his sections in suitable fire positions. All the rooms at the east
end of the house had been wrecked during the dive-bombing, and when
2nd Lieutenant Ross reached the west gable he saw a number of
Germans just 30 yards away. Helped by P.S.M. Maclean, 2nd Lieu-
tenant Ross succeeded in getting a Bren gun into action and doing
considerable execution. It became evident that the White House was
entirely surrounded and that the garrison could hold out only so long
as their ammunition lasted ; but, in this apparently critical situation,
there was suddenly most unexpected relief, for the artillery concentra-
tion Captain Ross had asked for fell on Villers with splendid accuracy,
though marvellously leaving the White House unscathed ! To the great
joy of the garrison the enemy were seen to be retiring.

2nd Lieutenant Ross allowed time for the Germans to clear the
village and then sent Private A. Lowder to find out whether anyone
remained at “ C” Company Headquarters. In a short time Private
Lowder returned to report that 2nd Lieutenant D. F. Cavaye, C.S.M.
W. J. Fox, and about twenty men (some of them wounded) were still
in position. On hearing this, 2nd Lieutenant Ross went to “C”
Company Headquarters himself and learnt that the party had put up
a spirited action (despite a German attack of considerable force), in
which C.S.M. Fox and Lance-Corporal L. M‘Cuish had distinguished
themselves. They had been surrounded by the enemy until the German
withdrawal ; since then everything had been quite quiet. After return-
ing to the White House, 2nd Lieutenant Ross learnt that Huchenne-
ville had been vacated, and accordingly he knew he was at liberty to
withdraw. Stretchers were improvised for the wounded (including
Lieutenant J. Anderson of the Seaforth Highlanders) and the dangerous
journey down the side of the Route Nationale began. Enemy aircraft
repeatedly forced them to take cover, and the carrying of the wounded
by men thoroughly exhausted themselves made progress painfully
slow. Lance-Corporal Black deserved high praise for his leadership on
this occasion. ,

At Limeux, 2nd Lieutenant Ross contacted the 2nd Seaforth High-
landers and arranged for the wounded to be given medical attention ;
at Limeux, too, he heard that the Camerons had gone to St Maxent.

With the aid of a small-scale Michelin map only, 2nd Lieutenant Ross
led his men to Doudelainville and thence to St Maxent—and there,
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though he did not find the Camerons, he at least learnt that Brigade
Headquarters was only 6 kilometres farther on! Unable to obtain a
lift in the full trucks they saw on the road, the men struggled on till
at last they came on the remainder of the Battalion halted at the
roadside. For the moment their troubles seemed to be over.

At this point we may leave “ C ”’ Company to turn to the situation
on the “ A "’ Company front, which by now had become more precarious.
“A” Company had done what they could to support ““ B Company
in its initial task : they had expected to carry on the attack them-
selves with their three platoons and what was left of “ B’ Company,
but Battalion Headquarters had expressly told them that the attempt
was not to be renewed and that they were to defend their present
position. Captain Tweedie, O.C. “A” Company, was, however,
obliged to order his men to prepare a new line in order to economise
manpower and, so far as possible, to offset the weakening of the defence
resulting from the situation of the other companies. By nightfall on
4th June, “ A” Company were well advanced with their digging, and
enemy interference had been relatively slight. There was good news
by telephone from Battalion Headquarters—“ A’ Company were to
be relieved by a company of the 5th Gordons. At first light on 5th June
the Gordons arrived, and Captain Tweedie arranged that 2nd Lieutenant
H. K. Junor would take the company out of the line, while he, him-
self, remained till the Gordons completed their take-over. Hardly,
however, had the Gordons come when the Germans launched a strong
attack and both companies had to stand-to. The Germans were beaten
off, but by then it was broad daylight and Captain Tweedie realised
that the relief would have to be delayed till the evening, particularly
as the enemy seemed to be preparing for a further attack. Battalion
Headquarters could not, unfortunately, be informed of this very
necessary decision. The telephone line to Huchenneville was dead, and
although Captain Tweedie made his way to the Lothian and Border
Horse position on the Route Nationale, their line was also out of action.

At 9 A.M. the Germans attacked again; this time from two sides.
This attack was also beaten off, though enemy snipers remained in the
vicinity of the old Company Headquarters and had to be cleared by
patrols sent out both by the Gordons and Camerons. By this time
A’ Company’s food supplies were exhausted and Captain Usher,
O.C. the Gordons Company, arranged to supply rations from his own
company. Water had to be obtained, at considerable risk, from out-
side the defended area.

During the afternoon a German anti-tank gun crew was engaged at
close range, but it was not until 7 p.M. that any large numbers of any
infantry were seen. The enemy were joined by other troops, who came
out of the woods about a mile and a half behind the position, until
they were estimated at fully 800o. They seemed to be searching for
any men (or perhaps anti-tank mines) that might have been concealed
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in the standing corn. About the same time, twenty armoured vehicles
were spotted in the area of the woods.

The night was quiet ; nevertheless, the enemy had succeeded in
surrounding the position. Two men, Lance-Corporal A. Ross and
Private (17) Ross, had been sent back before stand-to to report the
“ A" Company’s situation to Battalion Headquarters; they had, it
was learnt afterwards, found Headquarters vacated, yet they could
not inform Captain Tweedie, for they were captured while trying to
make their way back. Enemy aircraft now prohibited any movement,
and even thinning-out was impracticable, for the enemy could now be
seen very clearly advancing from Huchenneville Wood. It was only a
matter of time before the Germans closed in.

The capture of “ A” Company and the company of the Gordon
Highlanders coincided with the relief of “ B’ Company by another
company of the Gordons (under Captain Lawrie) that same morning.
2nd Lieutenant Robertson brought “ B’ Company back to a position
in front of Huchenneville village and reported at the chiteau; but
Headquarters were already packing up, and he was told to bring his
men into the woods in readiness to join the remainder of the
Battalion.

Ordered to evacuate Huchenneville at short notice, Earl Cawdor had
directed Captain Ross to lead"the transport to *“ A *’ Echelon at Limeux,
collect the stores there, and meet the Battalion at Cerisy. The carriers
remained to cover the withdrawal of all that was left of the depleted
companies.

The day was extremely hot and many of the men were utterly
exhausted, so that the last files of officers and men were loaded with
the arms of those who could no longer carry them. A halt was called
at Cerisy, and then the Battalion plodded on. At g p.M. it was ordered
to take up a position on the railway line behind St Maxent. To hold
this line the Battalion was divided into two companies: men of “ B,”
“C,” and “ D" Companies forming one, under Major Hill; all H.Q.
personnel who could be spared the other, under Major Macleay. The
position straddled the Route Nationale, and on the sector to the left
of the road defences had been partially prepared by the 236th Field
Company, R.E., and were actually being held by a French company ;
it was decided that the latter would be included in an International
Post, and Captain Ross was put in charge of a platoon of “ H.Q.”
Company (made up of Pioneers and clerks) to garrison part of it. The
other positions allotted to ‘“ H.Q.” Company were the buildings of a
beet-sugar factory, which was in front of the railway cutting; this
consisted of a main block, two open-sided drying sheds, and a rectangular
earthwork standing 12 feet above the surrounding country. Major
Hill’s composite company was distributed along the front edge of the
railway cutting from a point about 400 yards to the right of Major.
Macleay’s and extending to some 8oo yards. Battalion Headquarters
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was in a house just behind the embankment about half-way along the
right company front, and the transport was in an orchard farther back.

The morning of 6th June was quiet and a start was made to rebuild
the French defences and to construct new ones. The defences prepared
by the R.E.s had been vacated by the French at daybreak as being
considered by them to be too far forward. About 2 p.M. considerable
enemy movement was observed in the woods in front; then a truck
came into the open and the Germans started to unload a mortar and
ammunition. Major Hill ordered 2nd Lieutenant MacLeod of the
Brigade Anti-Tank Platoon to open fire, and the truck was struck,
although it was driven off. The mortar crew was engaged by company
Bren guns and apparently with good effect, since the mortar never
came into action while the railway line position was held.

At 3 p.M. shelling and mortaring of the International Post started.
The trench occupied by the Pioneer Platoon received a direct hit,
which caused a number of casualties. The wood where the enemy
mortars were situated was subjected to a heavy artillery concentration,
but although it seemed impossible that anything could survive, the
mortaring continued. Sniping from some houses near the railway line
became very troublesome and the ration lorry could not be sent forward.
The snipers were probably parachutists dropped on the previous night.
Captain Ross managed to get through this village and to reach Head-
quarters unnoticed ; he returned to Major Macleay with orders from
the Commanding Officer that the position was to be held until 9.30 p.M.,
unless it became untenable before that time.

At about 6.45 p.M. the mortaring and shelling began again, and
Major Hill, who was acting as artillery observer, directed a concentra-
tion on the left of the Route Nationale. The mortars were silenced,
but a 6-inch howitzer battery still kept up a steady fire. In the mean-
time, Major Macleay moved such men as he could spare back to Battalion
Headquarters in order to reduce casualties. Enemy machine-guns
were now firing down the railway and cutting off intercommunication
between the left company and Battalion Headquarters. From the
direction of the enemy fire it was concluded that part of the 3ist
Division front must have given way and so had enabled infiltration
of the machine-gunners to be effected.

Shortly after 8 p.M. the enemy in the village opposite the railway
were reinforced, while on the right company front machine-gun fire
became very heavy and groups of German infantry were seen advancing
across the open ground. 2nd Lieutenant Robertson’s platoon pinned
the enemy down 400 yards from the company position.

About 8.30 p.M. Major Hill received a message from the Gordon
Highlanders (on the right) saying that they had been ordered to retire
at 9.30 p.M., though their Carrier Platoon would remain until 10 p.M.
to cover their withdrawal. At 9 p.M. Major Hill sent his right-hand
platoon back to the high ground 800 yards in the rear. Twenty minutes
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later he filtered back his left platoon and Company Headquarters, and
at 9.30 p.M. he withdrew the centre platoon and so completed the
evacuation of the forward area. At 8.45 Major Macleay had recon-
noitred the line of withdrawal for the left company. An attempt to
filter the men towards Major Hill's position was frustrated by the
presence of an enemy machine-gun post between the two companies,
but fortunately the route reconnoitred was defiladed and the men were
withdrawn without loss. After holding a series of rearguard positions,
the company was gradually withdrawn until it reached the high ground,
where the men formed into file and began the long march back over the
River Bresle.

Avoiding the Route Nationale as far as possible, Major Hill
approached Le Translay with due precautions and there he met Captain
Lang, the Adjutant, who told him that Major Macleay had just passed
through. Blangy was packed with troops and progress became increas-
ingly difficult. Both companies finally reached their destination at
“B” Echelon in the Haute Forét d’Eu without enemy interference,
but they were dead beat and they lay down to sleep just where they
halted. Battalion Headquarters had already been established in the
forest. Personnel of the International Post were brought back safely
under Captain Ross, in spite of severe shelling during the early stage of
their withdrawal : they had remained until 10.45 P.M. in order to con-
form with the time of withdrawal of the French troops.

On the moming of 7th June Reveille was made very late, and the
rest of the day was spent in rest and reorganising. During the evening,
however, orders were received to stand-by in readiness to move to
Cuverville on the south bank of the River Yeres to prepare defensive
positions there. French transport, promised, failed to materialise, and
although some men could be carried on unit vehicles, the bulk of the
Battalion made the move by march route, protected by the carriers
and by road-blocks manned by those who had been * lifted " forward
in advance. Cuverville was reached in the early hours of 8th June.

The Brigadier had been wounded on 6th June, his place being taken
by Lt.-Colonel I. C. Barclay, M.B.E., C.O. of the 2nd Battalion The
Seaforth Highlanders.

During the morning of the 8th, Earl Cawdor, who was worn out and
ill, was told by the Divisional Commander that he was to be given a
rest at last, and that Major J. R. Mackintosh-Walker (Seaforth—then
on Divisional Staff) would take over command until Major C. M. Barber
returned from leave at home.

Everybody was extremely sorry to say good-bye to Earl Cawdor,
who had served with the 4th Battalion since the end of the First World
War and who was regarded as a personal friend of every officer and
man ; but everybody also knew that he was in real need of a respite
from the strain he had shouldered during an appallingly critical period.

Another move was imminent. The Battalion was to embus that
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afternoon. At 2.30 P.M. the troop-carrying vehicles arrived, and, over
roads congested with French and British transport, the column slowly
proceeded to its destination in the Forét d’Arques. Major Mackintosh-
Walker met the Battalion on its arrival, and then he and Major Hill
carried out an immediate reconnaissance of the ground to be held. It
was no easy task to decide on the direction from which any enemy
attack might be anticipated. The B.B.C. news, received on a portable
set, gave the information that German Armoured Divisions had broken
through the lines and were operating to the south of the area allotted
to the Battalion. However, as the bridges had been prepared for
demolition, and were to be blown, it was decided to cross the river and
take up a line facing south-east.

The Battalion was divided into three fighting companies and a
Headquarters Company. Reinforcements (about 120 in all) brought
up by Captain W. K. R. Murray, made up one company ; while the
remainder of “ B,” “C,” and “ D ” Companies were divided between
Captain Ross and Captain Burton to form the other two. Captain
Murray’s company held the low ground covering the river; Captain
Ross’s the road and railway, and Captain Burton’s the high ground in
rear. Battalion Headquarters was established at a chiteau at Roux-
mesnils-Bouteilles. The position was held for a day and night only,
and then orders were received to take up positions at Ouville.

Everyone knew by now that it was the ultimate intention to embark
the Division. Although still under command of the French, agreement
had been reached that the Division would pull northwards to the coast.
Being so near to Dieppe, it was thought that embarkation might be
from there ; but Havre was now the port decided upon. By this time
supplies from the back areas were not reaching forward units and they
were living on the country as they went. Havre had been heavily
bombed and the port installations put temporarily out of action.
Cherbourg was still being used, but this was a far cry from the High-
land Division. The Germans were reported to be moving fast west-
wards from Amiens, and it was a question of which arm of the pincer
movement would reach the Division first, and whether, in fact, the
Division could evade it.

At first light on gth June the Battalion marched down the hill
joining the main road close to Dieppe. After marching inland for
about a mile, it turned right and continued to Ouville. At Ouville,
Major Hill, who had gone forward to carry out a reconnaissance, led
the Battalion across the bridge, down a side road to the left, and into
a wood which gave good cover from aircraft. During the march the
roads had been thronged by thousands of refugees.

The Camerons were required to guard the bridges at Ouville, but
until the Gordons arrived it was also decided that they would hold
two unguarded bridges at the village of Gueures, about 4 kilometres
off. One company (under Major Macleay) was detailed for the Gueures
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position, two companies for the Ouville position, and one company
(under Captain Murray) covered the ground as far as possible between
these two positions.

No enemy were observed during the day, though a very sharp
look-out was maintained, particularly on the right flank, which was
also covered by the Carrier Platoon, in view of a warning received
from that quarter. At g P.M. orders were unexpectedly received to
close on Ouville, and an hour later the Battalion was marched to a
convoy of R.A.S.C. trucks and embussed. The sudden move took the
Battalion first to the village of Neville, which it reached just after day-
break. Originally the Camerons were to have held the south side of
the position and the 1st Gordons were to have been on their left ; but
the positions of the Camerons and Gordons were exchanged by mutual
agreement when it was discovered that the latter were already on the
ground. As things turned out it was lucky that this exchange took
place, for the Gordons had to resist two heavy attacks during the
afternoon and evening, whilst all was quiet on the Cameron front.

It was now no secret that the purpose of the defensive position
taken up was only to cover embarkation at St Valery-en-Caux. The
little fishing town of St Valery, roughly half-way between Dieppe and
Havre, had been chosen as the nearest port to which the British Forces
could make for in the expectation that the Navy would be able to take
them off. At any rate, the Germans were in Rouen and turning north
all too quickly towards Havre.

As dusk fell the familiar indications of enemy penetration were
observed on the right of the Battalion area : white Verey lights, orange
balls, machine-gun tracer fire, and bursts of mortar shells. Touch
with Brigade Headquarters could not be obtained (although officers and
despatch riders were sent out to try to establish contact) until 11.30 P.M.
—and then an order was delivered personally by 2nd Lieutenant R. C.
Robertson-Macleod, Brigade Liaison Officer, instructing the Battalion
to rendezvous at St Valery immediately.

It would have taken three hours to reach St Valery on foot, but
Major Mackintosh-Walker succeeded in organising sufficient transport
from the Battalion resources, and in spite of the chaotic state of the
traffic on the roads and the pitch darkness of the night, the move was
carried out without delay and without the loss of a single vehicle.

The journey to St Valery was unforgettable. The Battalion passed
blazing cottages and blazing chiteaux, and in the distance the burning
buildings of St Valery lit up the sky. It was indeed like daylight ; so
many buildings had been set on fire when the column reached the
town and descended the steep streets into the upper square. Under
instructions issued, the Camerons were to take the first turning to the
right past the station; but that street was utterly impassable owing
to conflagration. There was nothing for it but to debus the men and
to destroy the vehicles where they stood.

VOL. VI. c
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Cylinder blocks and heads were smashed with picks and hammers
and the vehicles were rendered so completely useless that the enemy
could never drive a truck that had carried the regimental ““ 15" on it.

While the work of destruction was in progress, Major Macleay and
Captain Lang tried to find an alternative route, and they were fortunate
in meeting a military policeman, who gave them directions for reaching
the harbour via the esplanade—extending along the sides of the estuary
round which St Valery stands. Captain Lang returned to Major Hill
(who was acting C.O. in the absence of Major Mackintosh-Walker) with
the information gained, while Major Macleay continued towards the
harbour. But Major Macleay learned that it was extremely unlikely
that any boats would be available, and even if they were, the way to
the beach was barred by enemy machine-gun fire.

In the meantime, since the enemy held the south-west cliff above
the estuary, Major Hill found cover from view, and shelter from the
continuous rain, under some trees behind the houses on the esplanade.
Here a message was received from Brigade Headquarters to the effect
that St Valery was to be evacuated and that the Battalion was to
form a defended locality at a sunken road outside the town. The first
difficulty to be overcome was the lack of weapons, because anti-tank
rifles and Brens had been destroyed, under orders, on the previous
night. A search of trucks and ditches was, however, rewarded, and
about twenty Brens and four anti-tank rifles were distributed. Major
Hill organised the defensive position along the banks of the sunken
road and occupied the lower half of the road while the upper was
manned by men from a number of other units. Major Hill then went
to Divisional Headquarters in order to obtain more definite informa-
tion regarding the general situation. In the meantime, steps were
taken to issue the Battalion with food, though the Germans had begun
to shell the road, and any movement was difficult. On his way to
Divisional Headquarters, Major Hill met a senior staff officer, who told
him authoritatively that the Division was no longer to fight on. Already
the French Corps Commander had given orders for a white flag to be
hung on the Church in token of surrender, and it was emphasised that
if the British disobeyed his orders, and continued to offer resistance,
the German shelling would continue and involve the French in unneces-
sary slaughter. Major Hill returned to break this most serious and
unwelcome news to the Camerons.

In after years the enforced surrender of the 51st Division could be
viewed in the fuller knowledge of the circumstances. The left arm of
the “ pincer,” to which reference has been made (see page 32) had
won, and starting about midday on 11th June the 2nd Seaforth on
the right of the St Valery bridgehead had been attacked by motorised
troops. Yet the 4th Camerons were well installed on the Seaforth’s
left and news was then cheering. The Royal Navy was reported to be
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lying off-shore, and a naval liaison officer was with Divisional Head-
quarters. The Divisional perimeter was tight and strong and fully
prepared to do battle for a few days if necessary. The troops could see
warships lying a mile or two off-shore, and, in sure expectation that
the Navy could most certainly be relied upon to do what it had done
before in many a desperate situation, the troops’ spirits never flagged.
Not until the end of their captivity did those who so bitterly deplored
the sudden apparently needless decision that the 51st Division should
follow the voluntary fate of their allies learn that, in fact, it would
have been utterly impossible for the Navy to rescue them. A treacherous
coast and an unpredictable fog had denied the Navy the precious time
needed to complete a task that would have been most hazardous even
under ideal conditions; to wait until those conditions might have
improved could only have resulted in appalling losses, and, above all,
the Commander of the British Forces owed not only loyal adherence
to the French but, in fact, he came directly under the orders of the
French Commander.

Those who were left in St Valery on 12th June were taken prisoner
there and then; others, who obtained permission to break away in
small parties and endeavour to escape, were for the most part picked
up later ; some got away from the little fishing village of Veules-les-
Roses, five miles east of St Valery, but they were the lucky few.

So ended the tragedy of St Valery, an epic which will go down
through the years in the annals of all the Highland regiments. It was
a blow, shattering enough to those who took part, but to those in
Scotland waiting in suspense for news, as day by day passed after
Dunkirk and the announcement that the last British troops had been
evacuated from there, it must have been sheer torture—so much
pride and love had gone into the making of this Highland Division.
Then, ten days after the first momentous announcement about the
B.E.F., came the news of the capture of the entire 51st Division. A
groan that was almost felt echoed throughout Scotland. It was a
particularly ghastly shock to Inverness-shire, with its small population.
From the 4th Battalion of The Queen’s Own Cameron Highlanders had
gone out, for the second time within living memory, the cream of the
regimental district, and there was hardly a home or croft that did not
mourn its loss.

Reconstituted in Inverness in July 1940, and commanded by
Lt.-Colonel C. M. Barber, D.S.0., the Battalion sailed from Liverpool
on gth August 1940 in H.M.T. The Empress of Australia. The Battalion
reached Halifax, Nova Scotia, on 1g9th August. Leaving Halifax in
two other ships on 23rd August, it arrived at Aruba, in the Dutch
West Indies, on 3rd September 1940, having dropped a detachment of
250 at Bermuda.

At Aruba the task of the Battalion was to guard the oil refineries.
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On s5th February 1941 Lt.-Colonel Barber returned to the United
Kingdom to take up a Staff appointment on promotion, and Lt.-Colonel
I. E. Begg, M.B.E,, relieved him as Commanding Officer.

The Battalion remained at Aruba until 12th February 1942, sailing
the night before German submarines bombarded the port. The Battalion
returned to the United Kingdom via New York, where all ranks received
the most lavish hospitality and entertainment.

The Battalion arrived in the Clyde on 24th March and were engaged
on training in England and the Shetlands until December 1942, when
it was renamed the 2nd Battalion.

In November 1942 Lt.-Colonel I. E. Begg, M.B.E., was forced,
through serious illness, to hand over command to Lt.-Colonel C. S.
Clarke, M.C.
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APPENDIX zo.

ALLOTMENT OF OFFICERS FOR THE OCCUPATION OF
THE SAAR POSITIONS, MAY 1940

Commanding Officer . . . Lt.-Colonel The Earl Cawdor.
Second-in-Command . . . Major S. H. Hill.

Adjutant . . . . Captain D. B. Lang.

Intelligence Officer . . . Lieutenant C. D. Hunter.
Medical Officer . . . . Lieutenant R. Mackay, R.A.M.C.
Liaison Officer . . . « M. Lucien Duchesne.

“ H.Q.” CoMPANY

Major W. A. Macleay.

Lieutenant J. A. Crawford, Signal Officer.

2nd Lieutenant J. M. M. Kerr, Transport Officer.
2nd Lieutenant G. A. M. Panton, Carrier Officer.
2nd Lieutenant R. D. Dundas, Quartermaster.

‘“ A’ COMPANY

Captain J. A, Tweedie.

2nd Lieutenant D. F. Ross.

2nd Lieutenant F. Gilmour.

2nd Lieutenant A. R. P. P. Cameron.
2nd Lieutenant H. K. Junor.

“B’' COMPANY

Captain The Viscount Fincastle.

Captain W. D. Ross.

2nd Lieutenant W. R. Robertson.

2nd Lieutenant R. C. Robertson-Macleod, Brigade Liaison Officer.
2nd Lieutenant A. J. Spiers.

2nd Lieutenant F. Clark.

‘“C’'" COMPANY

Captain R. Burton.

2nd Lieutenant F. L. Mackie.
2nd Lieutenant I. Macdonald.
2nd Lieutenant S. H. Johnston.
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‘“D " COMPANY

Major T. M. Threlfall.

2nd Lieutenant D. N. Cochrane.
2nd Lieutenant N. C. Gunn.
2nd Lieutenant G. W. Walker.

The Officers at Dampont were as follows :—

Lt.-Colonel The Earl Cawdor.

Major W. A. Macleay.

Captain D. B. Lang.

Lieutenant C. D. Hunter.

Lieutenant J. A. Crawford.

Lieutenant R. Mackay, R.A.M.C.

Major L. C. D. Doidge (13th London Regiment, M.G.).

Major Hoare (R.A. Liaison Officer).

Lieutenant The Hon. A. B. Money Coutts (R.S.F. Pioneers).

2nd Lieutenant C. H. Cairns (Lothian and Border Yeomanry, R.A.C.).

With “ A’ Echelon :(—

Captain The Rev. F. S. G. Fraser, Chaplain (C. of S.).
Captain The Rev. Kenneth Grant, Brigade Chaplain (R.C.), attached
to the Battalion.









5TH BATTALION 39

5TH BATTALION

EARLY DAYS IN SCOTLAND

IN April 1939, when the decision was reached to double the strength
of the Territorial Army, the 4th Battalion set about its task most
vigorously, and 100 per cent reserves were recruited from the regi-
mental area. Recruiting went forward at great speed until, on 26th
May, the target was reached, leaving just sufficient time to concentrate
on ‘“drills’ before the double-strength Battalion was due to go to
Barry Camp, on 10oth June, under the command of Lt.-Colonel The
Hon. Evan Baillie, M.C., T.D.

Although the sth Battalion had not yet officially been formed
prior to camp, all the officers and other ranks who were soon to com-
pose it were present on the first parade. In the second week of camp
the ‘“ split ” was made, and the original and duplicate Battalions trained
side by side, so that the 5th Battalion, unlike other duplicated Terri-
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